Ministry of Education, Research, Youth and Sport

### "LUCIAN BLAGA"UNIVERSITY OF SIBIU

#### FACULTY OF AGRICULTURAL SCIENCES, FOOD INDUSTRY AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION



### **PhD** Thesis

# Studies on biologically active substances used as food additives and nutrients to improve quality and food safety

### - Summary-

Scientific coordinator:

Prof. Dr. Eng. Vasile JÂSCANU, PhD

PhD Candidate:

Eng. Veronica Isabela CRĂCIUN

SIBIU

2011

### CONTENTS

Contents	2
List of tables	4
I. PhD THESIS OBJECTIVES Error! Bookmark I	10t defined.6
II. DOCUMENTARY STUDY	8
1. Raw materials- general notion about seabuckthorn, wheat germs and fish oils	8
1.1. Sea buckthorn oil	8
1.2. Wheat germs oil	9
1.3.Fish oil	10
2. Food quality – general concepts	10
2.1. Quality features oils:	11
2.1.1. Quality Indices	11
2.1.2. Precursors of vitamin A- beta carotene	11
2.1.3. Fatsoluble Vitamin A, D and E	12
2.1.4. Fatty acids	
2.1.5. Microelements	14
3. Food safety – general concepts	15
3.1.Chemical safety	16
3.1.1. Pesticide residues	16
3.1.2. Heavy metals	not defined.
3.1.3. Radioactive poluttion	
4. Methods of analysis of quality characteristics	19
4.1. Method for determinating of the quality indices	19
4.2. Methods for determination of Beta carotene and fatsoluble vitamins A, D and	l E 19
4.2.1. Spectrophotometric method for beta carotene determination	19
4.2.2. Semiquantitative methods of identification and quantification of vitamins A thin layer chromatography	•
4.2.3. Assay of vitamins A,D and E	20
4.2.4. Assay of fatty acids	20
5. Methods of analysis used to determine the safety characteristics	21
5.1. Atomic absorption spectrometry (AAS)	21
5.2. Gas-liquid chromatography (GLC)	22
5.3. Spectrometric measurements of alpha-beta global and gamma radiations	22
5.3.1. Global Beta measurements	22

5.3.2. Global Alpha measurements	22
5.3.3. Gamma spectrometric measurements	
III. EXPERIMENTAL STUDY	
1. Characteristics and origin of raw materials used	23
2. Quantitative determination of quality characteristics	25
2.1. Determining quality indices	25
2.1.1.Determination of free acidity Error! Bookmark not defin	ed.25
2.1.2.Determination of peroxide index	26
2.1.3. Determination of saponification index	26
2.1.4.Determination of iodine index	26
2.2. Determination of quality characteristics of sea buckthorn, wheat germ oil and fish oil.	27
2.2.1. Determination of beta-carotene of sea buckthorn oil and wheat germ oil	27
2.2.2.Determination of vitamins A, $D_3$ and E in fish oil, sea buckthorn oil and wheat germ by means of high performance liquid chromatography	
2.2.3.Determination of microelements (Cu, Zn)	29
2.2.4.Determination of fatty acid composition of sea buckthorn oil, wheat germ oil and fis	
3. The safety features of sea buckthorn oil, wheat germ oil and fish oil	34
3.1. Determination of heavy metals Pb, Cd, Hg	34
3.1.1. Determination of heavy metals (Pb, Cd) by graphite furnace AAS	34
3.1.2. Determination of Hg in sea buckthorn oil, wheat germ oil and fish oil by flame ator absorption spectrometry	
3.2. Determination of organochlorine pesticide residues contamination	
3.3. Determination of radioactive contamination	
3.3.1. Determination of alpha-beta radioactive contamination	38
3.3.2. Determination of gamma radioactive contamination	
IV.FINAL CONCLUSIONS, ORIGINAL STUDIES, FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS	
Published works:	
Bibliography:	

#### List of tables

Table 3. Baseline characteristics of raw materials	23
Table 4. Quality indices of sea buckthorn, wheat germ oil and fish oil	26
Table 5. Beta-carotene content of sea buckthorn oil and wheat germs oil	28
Table 6. Vitamins A, $D_3$ and E in sea buckthorn oil, wheat germ oil and fish oil	29
Table 8. Zn and Cu content of sea buckthorn oil, wheat germs oiland fish oil	29
Table 9. Fatty acid composition of sea buckthorn oil	30
Table 10. Fatty acid composition of fish oil	32
Table 11. Fatty acid composition of wheat germs oil	33
Table 15. The contents of Pb, Cd and Hg in sea buckthorn, wheat germ and fish oils	35
Table 17. Organochlorine pesticide residues in sea buckthorn oil	36
Table 18. Organochlorine pesticide residues in wheat germs oil	37
Table 19. Organochlorine pesticide residues in fish oil	37
Table 20. Beta radiation activity of sea buckthorn oil, wheat germ oil and fish oil	39
Table 21. Weight, time of analysis, the preparation and geometry of considered samples	40
Table 22. The natural radioactivity	40
Table 23. The artificial radioactivity	40

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The present paper "Studies on biologically active substances used as food additives and nutrients to improve quality and food safety" is divided into four chapters, set on 176 pages, containing 23 tables, 48 figures and 18 appendices. The text includes references to 159 sources of which more than 50% represent works published in the last 10 years. The results were disseminated in 7 works that are found in the list of published works.

In Chapter I, "PhD thesis objectives", I have approached the thesis objectives and reasons that led to the study presented in the thesis.

Chapter II, entitled "Documentary study", containe s general information about the oils studied, the raw materials they are produced of and the active principles they contain. It presents as well theoretical aspects of quality and safety characteristics of food and methods of identification and quantitative characterization of these features.

The third chapter, "Experimental Study", reveals the characteristics and origin of the raw materials used to perform experiments, the analytical methods used for their characterization in terms of quality and safety, details regarding the used equipment performance and the results obtained.

In Chapter IV, "Conclusions", I synthesized the theoretical and experimental results of this work, original studies and opportunities to address future research directions.

In the following pages are presented the main issues raised in each chapter of the thesis, the thesis being rigorously pursuied. The summary of the thesis follows the pattern of numbering the chapters, the figures, tables and bibliographic index of the doctoral thesis.

#### I. PhD THESIS OBJECTIVES

Health and nutrition determine the ability to work as early as embryonic stage. Diet has a beneficial effect on the normal functioning of all organs including the brain, affecting the general wellness and mental health care. It is believed that what we eat today will walk and talk tomorrow. Nutrition determines the optimum development of metabolic processes. Thus, for the optimal functioning of the body and for a very good state of health, the food consumed must have nutritional value, expressed in quality and quantity of basic nutrients (carbohydrates, proteins, lipids) and biologically active substances (minerals, vitamins). Also, the food should not endanger the human body, should not contain harmful microorganisms nor chemicals (heavy metals, pesticide residues, mycotoxins, etc.), this characteristic beingexpressed by innocuity (hygienic quality).

Unfortunately there is not always an equilibrium between the needs of the body and the food consumed as this balance is disturbed by many factors among which the most important are the deficiency of biologically active substances such as vitamins and minerals, the deficiency of nutrients with plastic role (proteins) and therefore the energy deficiency lowers the metabolic processes and thus the intensity of health disorders.

For example, in the developing countries there is a deficit of substances with plastic (protein) that causes a small weight to the average of newborns. A large deficit of protein substances cause malfunctioning of the central nervous system and of the metabolism in general. It follows that developing countries focus on ensuring an optimal intake of protein.

In the developed countries, the rising living standards and the ease of purchasing goods lead to an overconsumption of food characterized inhigh calories but low in biologically active substances. This overconsumption associated with other factors such as physical inactivity (sedentariness), pollution, stress led to imbalances manifested by the appearance of adverse metabolic nutrition diseases (diabetes, cardiovascular disease, hypertension, obesity).

Following these events in the health of the population in developed countries it was necessary to supplement the normal diet and food supplements rich in antioxidants and minerals that can help people in the prevention of chronic diseases and diseases related to aging as well as maintain optimal health.

6

Another important condition that food must meet is safety, because otherwise the body it becomes a useful product for the consumer risk, a source of infection, in some cases with fatal effect.

Globalization of the food chain causes constant new challenges and risks to health and the interests of European consumers. The main objective of EU food safety policy is to achieve the highest possible degree of protection of human health and consumer interests in terms of food. In this respect, the EU trade in food commodities is respecting certain regulations relating to.

- Levels of pesticide residues in food (Regulation (EC) no. 396/2005 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 February 2005 on maximum residue levels of pesticides in or on food and feed of plant and animal and amending Directive 91/414/EEC);
- The levels of heavy metals in food (Regulation (EC) no. 1881/2006 of 19 December 2006 setting maximum levels for certain contaminants in food;
- The levels of radionuclides Regulation (EC) no. 733 from 15 July 2008 on conditions for imports of agricultural products originating in third countries following the accident at the Chernobyl nuclear power plant.

These regulations are complied with, guarantee food safety and ensure both the proper functioning of the internal market and Community.

Some food high in soluble vitamins and fatty acids are vegetable oils and animal fats. They are widely used both in food and in cosmetics and pharmaceuticals.

In the literature there are many studies on the active principles of vegetable oils but most of them deal with these oils in terms of the levels of fatty acids and tocopherols. In terms of safety data available in the literature, they refer to pesticide residues and mercury in fish oil.

Given these considerations, the objectives pursued in this thesis are:

- completely study of sea buckthorn oil, wheat germ oil and fish oil including quality and freshness indices and active principles in their composition (fat-soluble vitamins, unsaturated fatty acids-saturated, trace elements copper, zinc);

- correlation of the active principles found in these oils with recommended daily dose;

- study of sea buckthorn oil, wheat germ oil and fish oil in terms of their food safety by determining contaminants represented by heavy metals (lead, cadmium, mercury), residues of organochlorine pesticides and radioactive particles.

#### II. DOCUMENTARY STUDY

#### 1. Raw materials-general notions about sea buckthorn oil, wheat germ and fish

#### 1.1. Sea buckthorn oil

Sea buckthorn oil is an oily liquid, of intense orange color, odorless, tasteless, which is separated from the aqueous phase resulting from pressing fresh fruit, containing large amounts of vitamin A, beta-carotene and vitamins D and E. Because of the important content of vitamins such as E and A, it is used with great success both internally and externally to treat vitamin deficiencies, immune system, to stimulate intellectual activity, to improve the heart's activity with the elderly, combating the effects of stress, improving chemotherapy [19].

External use of sea buckthorn oil protects mucous membranes and skin of harmful action of radiation.Sea buckthorn oil is used to treat burns, frostbite, various wounds by daily anointing [148].Because of its antibacterial properties, sea buckthorn oil is recommended for skin infections, respectively in order to prevent or treat eczema and rheumatic pain, due to its anti-inflammatory and soothing effects.

Sea buckthorn oil can be obtained by different extraction procedures from sea berry fruits (Hippophae rhamnoides) that is part of the family Eleagnaceae. The scientific name of the genus derives from the Greek words "hippos", which means "horse" and phao-by murder. The name refers to the use of the fruits in the past to eliminate intestinal worms in horses. Following other authors would mean "shining horse." Sea berry is also known as the river sea buckthorn, sea buckthorn barbed river sea buckthorn, sea buckthorn blue, barberry, red sea buckthorn, hedge [21].

Sea buckthorn is a shrub bushy, amfitolerant moisture, heliofil, large shrubs found in clusters or on the sand and gravel, green land, rocky coasts, cliffs. The geological formations met salinifere in mountainous regions up to the coast. In our country they are met on large surfaces inWallachia and Moldavia Carpathians, between Olt and Siret, on the island of the Danube Delta. It is a plant resistant to both drought and cold and tough from the ground [20, 22].

Sea berry has branched stems 2-3 high, up to 6 m, bark dark brown color, Armalite lujerii scaly, silvery gray, lateral branches with numerous spines, with small buds, hairy, copper-colored, linear-lanceolate leaves, the 1-6 cm long, whole, with median rib obvious, short-petiolate, silvery gray on the underside with rusty scales, arranged alternate. The flowers

are yellow-rust, unisexual, dioecious, the male flowers grouped in globular and the female raceme [22]. Blossoming occurs in March-April. Fruits are false drupe, of 6-8 mm, oval, fleshy, orange, hard stone, branches remain over winter. Turned to 4-5 years. The fruit is harvested from August to first frost.

Its fruits are rich in: sucrose, organic acids, pectin, tannins, cellulose, oil, betacarotene, vitamins (C, E, B1, B2, F, K, A), minerals (Ca, P, Mg, K). Due to their high content of active principles, the sea buckthorn fruits are also called natural multi-vitamins. They act as general tonic, have antiscorbutic action, are astringent, vermifuge, and antibacterial. It is recommended as treatment for the following diseases: beriberi, diarrhea, rheumatism, urticaria, neuroendocrine diseases, anemia, liver disease, circulatory diseases and spring asthenia [50].From the data collected from the literature [82, 83 157]

Sea buckthorn oil contains:

- vitamin E 1230 mg/kg;

- vitamin A 25mg/kg ;

- fatty acids: 0.23% myristic acid,11.6% palmitic acid, 5.41% palmitoleic acid, 0.23% heptadecanoic acid, 3.17% stearic acid, 17.4% oleic acid, 32.0% linoleic acid, 29.2% linolenic acid,0.46% peanut acid, 0.23% eicosenoic acid.

#### 1.2. Wheat germ oil

Wheat germ oil is an oily bright yellow, tasteless and odorless liquid.Wheat germ oil is used to combat constipation, in body mineralization and external treatment of skin diseases [48].Wheat germ are obtained from common wheat (Triticum aestivum ssp vulgare).

Wheat is an annual herbaceous plant, unisexual, monoecious, cultivated since ancient times. It is widely spread from the tropics to the north to parallel 64, and to the south to the parallel 50. It occupies 90% of the global wheat cultivated surfaces. It is a plant that requires moderate warm and humid climate. It resists the low temperatures of winter and the high temperatures of the summer. The fruit is a cariopsa. Wheat grains contain protein, carbohydrates (starch), fats, vitamins A, B, E, K, D, PP. They contain large amounts of fiber. From wheat beans are extracted wheat germs which are used to extract wheat germ oil, rich in vitamin E [103]. From data collected from the literature [50] wheat germ oil contains:

- vitamin E 2150mg/kg;

-fatty acids: 16, 7%, palmitic acid, 0, 7% stearic acid, 14.6% oleic acid, 56.5% linoleic acid, 6.2% linolenic acid,0.2% eicosanoic acid, 1.5% gadoleic acid.

PhD Thesis-Summary

#### 1.3. Fish oil

Fish oil is obtained from different species of marine fish (sardines, mackerel). Fish oil is an oily liquid, straw yellow coloured, with specific taste and odor. It is rich in vitamins A and E as well as omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and omega-6 (Vitamin F). Fish oil contributes to the structure and functions of cell membranes and produce hormone-like substances that have anti-inflammatory and stimulating effect. Omega-3 fatty acids from fish regenerates a large part of the brain, the cerebral cortex and primary visual center of the eye, that is retina. Omega-3 fatty acids have different effects on the multivariate cardiovascular risk parameters [84]. Omega-3 fatty acids reduce the risk of heart attacks by reducing blood thickening and strengthening cell walls. It also reduces triglyceride levels and blood pressure by promoting vasodilatation [28, 8, 70]. Omega-3 plays an important role in regulating fatty acid absorption. This may increase metabolism and reduce fat storage, helping to prevent weight gain [77].

A report published in "Circulation Journal "American Heart Association," suggests that a diet rich in fish may decrease the level of leptin, the hormone that influences body weight and that such individuals can help control their appetite. The occurrences of both breast and prostate cancer are lower with people who consume more omega-3 fatty acids [4]. The regulary assimilation of omega-3 fatty acids may have prophylactic effect on the two diseases of the eye leading to blindness: maculopathy and glaucoma. Also consumption of fish oil have benefits in treating dry eye.

General epidemiological studies show that with people who consume large amounts of fish or fish oil, the frequency of mental illness is reduced [107]. The studies done on elderly people with depressia, mental diseases or vascular dementia Alzhaimer revealed that these persons have a low content of omega-3 fatty acids.

High consumption of omega-3 fatty acids may slow cognitive process and can combat depression [122].

The data collected from the literature [112, 114] shows that fish oil contains:

- Vitamin E 1650 mg/kg;
- Fatty acids:8.5% myristic acid, 19.4% palmitic acid, 10.1% palmitoleic acid, 3.9% margaric acid, 5.4% stearic acid, 15% oleic acid, 3.5% linoleic acid,1.7% linolenic acid, 1.4% gadoleic acid,11.9% eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), 2.5% clupanodonic acid,12.9% docosahexaenoic acid (DHA).

#### 2. Food quality - general concepts

#### 2.1. Quality features of oils:

- indices of freshness acidity index, iodine index, saponification index, peroxide value
- beta carotene
- fat soluble vitamins A, D and E
- Fatty acids (saturated, unsaturated)

#### 2.1.1. Quality indices

#### Acidity index

The acidity index means the quantity of potassium hydroxide, expressed in milligrams, required to neutralize one gram of fat.

Value of this indicator helps in assessing the quality of fat, by determining the free fatty acids that occur as a result of partial hydrolysis in the presence of microorganisms and the degradation transformations in oxidizing process [49, 51].

#### Iodine index

The iodine index indicates the degree of unsaturation fatty acids from oils and fats and it is expressed in grams of iodine absorbed by 100g product.

#### Saponification index

Saponification index is directly proportional to the average molecular weight of the fatty acid composition of oils.

Saponification index gives information about the molecular weight of fatty acid constituents of fats analyzed. Free fatty acids in the analyzed material contribute to the saponification value of the index, while nesaponificabile components causes a decrease in its value [49].

#### Peroxide value

Peroxide value is an indicator of freshness of the fats and represent peroxides content and other oxidizing substances in a certain amount of product that oxidizes potassium iodide releasing iodine. Peroxide value is expressed in milliequivalents of peroxide per kilogram of product [51, 68].

#### 2.1.2. Precursors of vitamin A, beta carotene

Carotene is the yellow-red pigment of carrots, widespread in green leaves as well, in flowers and fruits and in the animal body (blood serum, fat, milk). The human body uses beta carotene to make vitamin A in the liver as needed. The medical studies have proven that it is not toxic and can be consumed in any dose. Consumption of beta-carotene reduces the risk of cancer and cardiovascular accidents, improves the immune system, eyesight and even bone growth [62].

#### 2.1.3. Fat soluble vitamins A, D and E

#### Vitamin A

Vitamin A has numerous and diverse functions in the body, but it is best known for the role it plays in preventing blindness and other eye problems, and thus ensuring the regeneration of rhodopsin visual acuity. It also helps to improve and maintain the immune system; it is essential for cell growth and development and it is necessary for a healthy skin and hair. Vitamin A, through its antioxidant role helps protect cells and tissues of the body against cardiovascular diseases and cancer. The optimal daily dose of vitamin A is 1,000 micrograms molded (1 mg) retinol equivalents or 5000 international units (IU).One may reach the dose of vitamin A by consuming mixed carotenoids. We recommend 6-15 mg mixed carotenoids (15 mg equivalent to 25 000 IU of vitamin A).Carotenoids have an activity similar to that of vitamin A but apparently do not produce toxicity [119, 152].

#### Vitamin D

Vitamin D is not similar to other vitamins. In fact, this substance does not meet the classic definition of a vitamin because the body can produce as much as it needs using the sun's ultraviolet rays. However, people who do not have adequate exposure to sunlight during the year, may need to extract vitamin D from dietary sources.

Vitamin D is a biologically active substance essential for maintaining bone density. In fact, without vitamin D, your body would not be able to use calcium for the building of bones. Vitamin D increases intestinal absorption of minerals in bone structure such as calcium and phosphorus. It also regulates blood levels of calcium and phosphorus. In its active form, vitamin D is involved in cell growth and maturation which are essential for healthy functioning immune system. A little-known role of vitamin D is to stimulate production of insulin, a hormone produced by the pancreas, with role of regulating blood sugar content. When there is vitamin D deficiency, the body may not be able to produce enough

insulin needed to use simple sugars. This may contribute to the development of diabetes [105].Optimal daily dose of vitamin D in men and women is 400 international units [152].

#### Vitamin E

Vitamin E is a powerful antioxidant that protects cells against oxidative effects by neutralizing molecules very unstable, known as free radicals.

Vitamin E helps protect cells by inhibiting the oxidation of phospholipids, fats contained in cell membranes, which are highly susceptible to free radical attack. Acting as an antioxidant, it protects the lungs against damage caused by air pollution, protects the whole body against free radicals and prevents tumors.Vitamin E also prevents oxidative damage of other nutrients, including vitamin A and C, and beta-carotene. Evidence suggests that vitamin E act synergistically with other antioxidants such as vitamins A and C. The required daily amount of vitamin E depends on each individual's body weight and the amount of polyunsaturated fat they consume because vitamin E protects the fat oxidation process. Due to these individual variations, it is difficult to estimate a value that is optimal for all people. However the recommended optimal daily dose is comprised between 100 and 400 international units [152]. Higher values are appropriate for anyone at high risk of atherosclerosis and coronary heart disease.

#### 2.1.4. Fatty acids

Fatty acids are organic, low-acid character, which enters into the constitution of most lipids. Together with glycerol, fatty acids form the most common kind, namely the fat triglycerides. In nature we know over 300 such compounds that have been identified in microorganisms, plants, animals and humans [104].

#### The importance of fatty acids

Man, like all other creatures, synthesizes their own fat in most of the fat from food. Human body through metabolic means at its disposal, can not create carbon double bond beyond 9, therefore, polyunsaturated fatty acids should be necessarily introduced into the body through food.For this reason, they are called essential polyunsaturated fatty acids (EFAs) or vitamin F (G. NIACE). All fatty acids that man need, the steps can synthesize EFAs, therefore, saturated fatty acids are non essential substances for man and animals.Providing essential acids can be exclusively vegetable sources (oils), except for acid  $\omega$ -3, which is more in fish and fish oil [24]. Saturated fats are not necessary for body but also brings health

disadvantages in that they get fat and increase cholesterol and trigliceridemia. Long-chain saturated fatty acids (palmitic, stearic), is digested and absorbed hard and can create various digestive problems.

If the healthy, fat should provide about 15% of calories. Of these lipids, it is recommended that over 66% should come from unsaturated fatty glycerides [27].

#### The optimal ratio of fatty acids

The optimal ratio of the three categories (monounsaturated fatty acids, polyunsaturated and saturated acids) should be 1:1:1.

In the AGE, it is important a ratio of omega 6 and omega 3. Between the two types of polyunsaturated fatty acids, there must be a relationship type:

$$\omega$$
-6/ $\omega$ -3 = 5:1;

$$\omega - 6 = 5 g/zi,$$

 $\omega$ -3 = 1g/zi.

The conditions in our daily diet, the report is unfavorable, being around 10:1. For this reason it is recommended to increase the consumption of fish, especially marine species of salmonids (trout, salmon), which are rich in omega 3 [134 141]. Also for rebalancing report, indicate internal use offlex oil and fish oil.

#### 2.1.5. Microelements

Minerals are inorganic substances that originate in water, soil and are absorbed by plants or eaten by animals, which in their turn are human food.

Minerals are biologically active substances, which, like vitamins are needed by the body in small amounts. Minerals may function as coenzymes, acting with enzymes to activate the body's biochemical processes. They also help the formation of strong bones and teeth (Ca, Mg) and are require to produce hemoglobin, which carries oxygen in blood. (Fe)

Minerals can be divided into macro-and microelements.

Macroelements are needed by the body in quantities greater than trace. Macroelements include calcium, chlorine, magnesium, phosphorus, potassium, sodium and sulfur.

Trace elements include copper, zinc, iron, chromium, fluoride, molybdenum and selenium.

#### Zinc

Although the human body contains only 2-3g of zinc, a trace mineral that is essential for growth and development.

Zinc is found in all body cells being highly concentrated in the eye, liver, bone, skin, hair and nails.

Zinc is considered a tonic for the immune system that can help reduce the frequency of colds and sore throat. Also, zinc may protect the body from the harmful effects of toxic metals such as lead and cadmium [100].Zinc is involved in the synthesis of genetic material contained in all cells, such as DNA and RNA.

Zinc can become harmful to the body only when consumed in large quantities, more than 2 g taken once. Also, excessive intake of zinc over 30 mg can lower copper content and may cause copper deficiency. Copper deficiency is dangerous because copper helps to build bone, hemoglobin and red blood cells and collagen [153].

#### Copper

Copper plays an essential role in the synthesis of hemoglobin, the blood component that carries iron. Also part of important enzymes, including those essential for the formation of bones, nerves and collagen production.

Copper plays an important role in maintaining the integrity of the myelin that covers nerves, maintain proper functioning of the heart and arteries, ensuring the health of the immune system.

Optimal daily dose of copper is between 1.5 and 3 mg. Nutritional studies show that the ordinary person fails to reach the optimal daily dose lower limit, with a maximum intake of 1.3 mg copper.

Copper intoxication occurs if the quantity exceeds 10 mg. Copper intoxication is rare in people with normal diet and not taking copper supplements [153].

#### 3. Food safety - general concepts

Food safety is also known as hygienic quality or innocuity.

Innocuity can be:

- microbiological
- •chemical

Biological safety - biological contamination of food can be:

- Bacterial
- Viral
- Parasitologycal

#### 3.1. Chemical safety

The concept refers both to natural substances existing in different foods and food substances occurring pollution and contamination. There is a distinction between pollution and contamination because in the first case, the occurrence of toxic substances occurs accidentally, while in the latter process is permanent [11].

As a result of the effect of pollution in food occur:

- Antibiotics
- Radioactive substances

Contamination is responsible in particular for the passage of heavy metals (Cu, Fe, Sn, Pb,

As, Cd, Hg) and pesticides in food.

Heavy metals and pesticides in food may come in three ways:

• As a result of spraying with insecticides and fungicides containing heavy metals compositional

- In the technological process
- At the storage of metal containers

#### 3.1.1. Pesticide Residues

The term pesticide includes all substances used in agriculture to combat different types of pests.

#### **Organochlorine pesticides**

The most important representatives of this class are: DDT, metoxichlor, keltan, hexachlorocyclohexane (HCH), pentaclornitrobenzene, aldrin, dieldrin, chlordane, heptachlor, heptaclorepoxide.

- organochlorine insecticides toxicological aspect consists of:
- action on liver function: organochlorine insecticides in mammals produce weight gain in relation to liver weight, protein synthesis are to grow by microsomes and especially lead to increased synthesis of oxido-reductase [7.33];
- endocrine action: estrogen action, disruption of testosterone metabolism by stimulating the action of liver enzymes and calcium metabolism changes;
- action teratogenic (embryo): placenta is easily permeable to pesticides, the fetus in the womb being able to concentrate the pesticide residues from the age of 4 weeks. The new born is contaminated with pesticides in breast milk [7, 11];
- carcinogenic action could not be demonstrated in all cases.

#### 3.1.2. Heavy metals

The high concentrations of heavy metals have a harmful effect on the body, because it blocks the enzymatic reactions. Also heavy metals accelerate oxidation of vitamins A and E from food.

#### Mercury contamination

The level of mercury in food is low, the variations depending on the type of product, the level of mercury in the environment in which food is produced and the eventual use of mercury in agriculture. A high concentration of mercury in fish and shellfish occurs because of the high degree of pollution of seas and oceans.

Mercury accumulates in the liver, kidney, pancreas, bladder and can accumulate in the brain. Inorganic mercury is excreted by the kidneysthrough urine, the liver via the bile, the intestinal mucosa, salivary glands and sweat. Almost 90% of ingested mercury is excreted in stool.

#### **Cadmium contamination**

Among the most important food contaminated with cadmiumare fish, potatoes, milk, beer, eggs.

Although the amounts of cadmium in food are relatively low and absorption ingastrointesinal tract is reduced, a daily exposure for long life in the body leads to a very considerable accumulation of the metal.

Cadmium is toxic to almost every body system. Multiple manifestations which as cadmium among the the human body is Itai-Itai disease, which occurred in Japan due to consumption of

fish and shellfish contaminated with elevated cadmium and rice grown on land contaminated with cadmium.

Among the major effects reported for cadmium are mutagenicity and carcinogenicity of this metal. Cadmium is considered one of the most potent metal carcinogens known to date [15].

#### Lead contamination

Lead is not an essential element for humans, it is potentially toxic to all biological systems. Lead accumulates in human tissues in the liver, kidneys, bones. Food and water are the main sources of contamination by ingestion.

Bone retains the largest amount first colloidal formand then crystalline. The amount of lead present in the bone tissue is dependent on previous exposure time and varies from one individual to another, while the soft tissues are relatively constant concentrations. Saturni benign intoxication is accompanied by a slight reduction in nervous influx.

To those who have eaten food contaminated with lead,nerve lesions are related to the degree of anemia, and an excessive ingestion of lead causes an inflammation of the gastrointestinal tract [30, 32].

#### 3.1.3. Radioactive pollution

Radioactive pollution is a natural pollution of the environment, whose components, air, water, soil and subsoil are contaminated at the same time.

Radioactive pollution is the most insidious and pervasive forms of aggression on the environment, "almost perfect" because it is invisible, colorless, odorless and does not cause immediate pain.

Radioactivity, that is the emission of alpha particles, beta and gamma can be:

- natural, natural radiation from the sun, from distant galaxies, the earth, rocks, watersof seas and oceans or the atmosphere. These are the natural background radiation to which human beings have adapted over time and is essential to normal biological activity.
- artificial, as a result of human activity, carried out the extraction and processing of radioactive minerals in nuclear reactors for research and production of electricity for detecting defects in industrial components (defectoscopy materials), the type X-ray equipment used in nuclear medicine, in experiments with nuclear weapons. The nuclear industry has a specific risk - ionizing radiation - which are found throughout

the work of prospecting, mining, processing and transport of nuclear fuel, proper operation of nuclear reactors, radioactive waste management, decommissioning nuclear plants [85]. Ionizing radiation are radiation capable to remove an electron orbital of an atom interacting with. Ionizing radiation are alpha, beta, gamma and X radiation.

#### 4. Methods of analysis of quality characteristics

#### 4.1. Methods for determining the quality indices

#### The titrable acidity

Determination of free acidity is done by titration with sodium hydroxide solution 0.1 N concentration after preliminary dissolution of a given quantity of oil in a mixture of alcohol and ethyl ether in a proportion of 1:2 neutralized to phenolphthalein.

#### Peroxide value

Determination of peroxide is made by titration with sodium thiosulphate solution of known titre of free iodine in the presence of a starch solution as indicator.

#### Saponification index

Determined by titration with hydrochloric acid solution with phenolphthalein in the presence of known titre as an indicator after a certain amount of oil saponification with alcoholic potassium hydroxide solution.

#### Iodineindex

Iodine index is determined by titration of excess iodine with sodium thiosulfate solution in the presence of starch as indicator.

#### 4.2. Methods for determination of beta carotene and fat soluble vitamins A, D and E

#### 4.2.1. Spectrophotometric method for determination of beta carotene

Spectrophotometric method is based on the selective properties of substances to absorb electromagnetic radiation and is used for identification, purity and dosage determination.

Absorption spectra are obtained from continuous radiation beam passing through the test substance that can absorb some of its energy. The amount of energy absorbed depends on the

structure and the number of atoms and molecules interacting with substance beam of radiation.

### 4.2.2. Semiquantitative methods of identification and quantification of vitamins A, D and E by thin layer chromatography

Thin Layer Chromatography (TLC-Thin Layer Chromatography) is a technique that is based on a absorption and desorption of a mixture substances *and* a successive absorption of each component [72].

TLC analysis consists differential migration of a set of components subjected to separation. It is used to identify substances in mixtures.

#### 4.2.3. Assay of vitamins A, D and E

#### HPLC method (Hight Performance Liquid Chromatography)

HPLC method is a method of physico-chemical chromatographic separation where mobile phase is a liquid and the stationary phase contained in a column consists of a finegrained solid or solid impregnated with a liquid or solid that organic groups are grafted. Pressure liquid chromatography consists of following main parts:

-pumping system;

-injection system;

-column chromatography;

-detector;

-registration system;

#### 4.2.4. Assay of fatty acids

#### GC method (Gas Chromatography) or gas chromatography

Of gas chromatography can be analyzed all mixtures of liquids, gases or solids which are or may be transferred in the gas phase without decomposition when heated in other chemical species. The usual way of analysis is to analyze solution when the mixture is a liquid which is made by evaporating gaseous.GC analysis using restriction refers to substances that have a vapor temperature above the decomposition temperature in this case being able to form other chemical compounds. In these cases substances to be analyzed are derived in advance by specific chemical reactions of volatile compounds. In gas chromatography the sample is evaporated at the entry in column, to its end or în a special device at the entrance to the column.

Separation of the column (elution) is using a carrier gas which not react with the mobile phase but is designed to transport chemicals in the mixture through the column. After the type of column used, gas chromatography is divided into:

• gas chromatography stationarysolid phases (adsorption chromatography);

• gas chromatography stationary liquid phases (partition chromatography);

The adsorption chromatography retention of analyzed substances in the mixture shall be based on physical absorption on the inner wall of column chromatography, which interior diameter of tenths of millimeters and lengths of tens of meters.Because of the irreversible absorption this method is used rarely and only to substances with few molecules in the structure [62].

#### 5. Methods of analysis used to determine the safety characteristics

#### 5.1. Atomic absorbtion spectrometry (AAS)

Can be:

•AAS with graphite furnace

• flame AAS

The principle of analytical atomic spectroscopy is based on a property of atom to issue absorb electromagnetic radiation specific item under certain physical conditions. Up to the last stage, it is necessary to deliver the items to be investigated in a sample of compounds, generally by absorbing energy and make them available as free particles.

Using mass spectrometry that charged particles can be separated and detected in a mass spectrometer by energy absorption.

Electromagnetic radiation which crosses the environment is provided by a special source called "hollow cathode lamp." Cathode lamp is made of this element to be determined. For each chemical element is therefore required specific lamp.

In atomic absorption spectroscopy, analyzed elements are converted into free atomic state in the atomization device by absorbing heat. These atoms are able to absorb radiation specific item.

To this end, a specific element lamp, hollow cathode made of the element to be investigated is introduced into the beam path in atomic absorption spectrometer atomization device and a detector [125].Depending on the concentration of the element to be determined

in the sample, part of the hollow cathode lamp radiation intensity absorbed by the atoms is formed.

Two photo-multiplier measures the intensity of unmitigated radiation and radiation after leaving atomization device while providing a sample solution.Element concentration in the sample can be calculated by the difference between the two intensities.

#### 5.2. Gas-liquid chromatography (GLC)

In gas-liquid chromatography (GLC)the stationary phase is anon-volatile liquid immobilized on a solid support. Gas chromatography stationary phases is based on the distribution of liquid substance analyzed between gaseous mobile phase and a liquid stationary phase immobilized on the inner wall of column chromatography [102].

#### 5.3. Spectrometric measurements of alpha, beta and gamma radiation

Energy absorbed in the substance, when crossing radiation lead to several changes, which can be used to measure and record radiation.

Thus, the flow of charged particles passing through a gas excitation occurs and / or ionization of atoms of that substance, processes leading to the formation of ion pairs and free electrons that alter the electrical resistance of the volume of gas considered.

At radiation passing through the substance, the type of particles, will occur electromagnetic interactions and / or nuclear.

In the detection processes that are only interested in the given energy of particles, leading to the most important energy loss.

In most cases, to detect nuclear radiation loaded using ionization or excitation processes of atoms or molecules detector environment.

Neutral particles or electromagnetic radiation to be detected must interact, in a first phase detector with substance or auxiliary substance to produce charged secondary particles (electrons, protons, and alpha particles) are detected in one of its second stage by means of charged particles [40].

#### 5.3.1. Global beta measurements

Global beta measurement requires simple and robustequipment, being the most used method in system of monitoring environmental radioactivity. For detection and measurement of beta radiation can be used Geiger-Muller counters, scintillation detector, semiconductor detector or SSB and Si (Li) [40, 75, 83].

#### 5.3.2. Global alfa measurements

The equipment used for measurements of global beta is not very different from that of global alpha measurements.

But due to the much more sharp absorption of alpha radiation in air, the detector window and selfabsorbtion of the sample, alpha measurements needs additional precautions: the sample is deposited in the thin layer, sample-detector distance is as small as possible, the thickness of the detector window measurements are corresponding to alpha. Alpha spectrum is narrower than the beta, so calibration can be a source of I-241 without special problems if are respected same conditions of geometry to measure the standard and the sample [40.83].

#### 5.3.3. Gamma spectrometric measurements

The best way to determine concentrations of radioactive kernels is high-resolution gamma spectrometry, practiced with detector Ge (Li) or HPGe.

There can be determined by gamma spectrometry concentrations of radionuclides which issue pure beta radiation and pure alpha radiation. Most spread radionuclides in this situation are: Sr-89, Sr-90 Y-90, tritium, C-14 and especially plutonium isotopes.

Gamma spectrometry can be done with crystal scintillation detectors with Na (Ti).

#### III. EXPERIMENTAL STUDY

#### 1. Characteristics and origin of raw materials used

**Sea buckthorn oil** used for the tests was obtained from sea buckthorn fruitdried at 40 ° C in fluidized bed, being harvested from the Breaza, Prahova County.

Wheat germ oil was extracted from dry wheat germ from SC Boromir SA Sibiu.

Fish oil used is a fish oil sardine and mackerel obtained from the North Sea.

Raw materials used for the extraction of seaberry oil and wheat germ oil had baseline characteristics presented in Table 3

#### Veronica Isabela Crăciun

Raw material	Water content,%	Fat content,%	Peroxide index,mmol KOH/100ml
Dried seaberry fruits	10,5	13,2	0,7
Dried wheat germs	13,6	9,5	0,5

Table1. Baseline characteristics of raw materials

To extract the sea buckthorn and wheat germoilsprior was performed a shredding of material using a hammer cryogenic mill Forplex with a capacity up to 5 kg / h milled product.Grinding by this process helps keep the taste and flavor of raw materials which are made up of water and oils.For the preparation of sample extraction was used a Retsch apparatus for grading with7sites and timer.

Humidity of raw materials was determined by oven drying at a temperature of 100  $^{\circ}$  C for 3 hours and oil content was determined using a five-seatSoxhlet installation like solvent using ethyl ether of analytical.

Soxhlet extraction methods was used only for quantitative assessment of the oil content of raw wheat germ and sea buckthorn because the extraction with solvent at boiling temperature and drying in oven at 105°C to constant weight degrades the extracted oils and increase the peroxide index.

Oils which were determined characteristics of freshness, active ingredients and contaminants content was obtained from the same raw materials but their extraction method was performed by modern supercritical fluid extraction.

Extraction with supercritical gas is a modern technique that aims to replace traditional solvent technologies.

In the supercritical state at a certain temperature and pressure liquefied gases have properties that characterize them in the gas phase.

Oils are soluble in liquefied gases under pressure action then there is the relaxation, compression, extraction, separation of oil from liquid gas phase, the relaxation due to lower gas pressure and recirculation [29].

Currently trying to use a larger scale extraction efficiency of the process due to high oil purity remain no traces of solvent, low cost of gas in the supercritical state.

Supercritical fluids have density and solvent properties like liquids but also viscosity and diffusion coefficient close so quickly of gas causing oil separation plant product of origin [45].

24

As working parameters are used to temperature range 55 ° C and pressure ratings up to 7 atmospheres.

Supercritical fluid extraction is superior then solvent extraction that it is achieved in a shorter time, it eliminates the risk of non-volatile solvent in the product and the risk of product degradation due to operating temperature and contact with air [87].

Extraction of sea buckthorn oil and wheat germ Superfluids installation was performed on a 5-3 separator SEP in three-stages. Installation is at the Food Industry Technical College in Sibiu.

SEP 5-3 Superfluids installation has the following characteristics:

- Extraction capacity of 5L;
- Two separators with a capacity of 1.5 l;
- A separator with a capacity of 0.3 l;

The installation also has two auxiliary units having role to maintain the extraction temperature areas such as:

- Cooling unit with glycol-water;

- A plant to produce hot water.

For extraction has worked with the following characteristics:

- in extraction process at the contact material and solvent, pressure was 240-250 bar and temperature of 50-60 ° C;
- for the second stage of separation the pressure was 70-80 bar and temperature of 30°C;
- in the third stage the separator pressure was 50-55 bar and temperature of 20  $^{\circ}$  C..

#### 2. Quantitative determination of quality characteristics

#### 2.1. Determining quality indices

#### 2.1.1.Determination of free acidity

Determination of free acidity by titration was performed in the presence of indicators. Organic acid determination was performed, resulting in degradation of fatty of raw materials [34].

The amount of free fatty acids expressed as oleic acid is calculated using the formula:

% oleic acid =  $\frac{282*V*C}{10*m}$ 

#### 2.1.2. Determination of peroxide index

Product was treated in acetic acid medium and chloroform using a potassium iodide solution then titrated liberated iodinewith a solution of sodium thiosulphate titre known [34]. Peroxide value is calculated using the formula:

Peroxide index (meq/kg) = 
$$\frac{V_p - V_m}{m} * N * 1000 (meq/kg)$$

#### 2.1.3. Determination of saponification index

Was determined by titration with hydrochloric acid solution f known titer in the presence of phenolphthalein as indicator after a certain amount of oil saponification with alcoholic potassium hydroxide solution [34].

Saponification index is calculated using the formula:

$$I_s = \frac{v_m - v_p}{m} * 28,05$$

#### 2.1.4. Determination of iodine index

For determination of the iodine has been used Hanus method: Iodine index is calculated using the formula:

Indine index = 
$$\frac{12,69 * (Vm - V_p) * N}{m} (g/100g)$$

The results obtained for quality indicators analyzed are listed in Table. 4.

Oil	Free acidity, % oleic acid	Peroxide index,meq/kg	Saponificationindex, mg KOH/g	Iodine value, g/100g
Buckthorn oil extracted by supercritical CO <sub>2</sub>	0,30	0,38	200,3	71,5
Wheat germ oil extracted by supercritical CO <sub>2</sub>	0,97	0,56	248,3	110,7
Fish oil	0,40	0,43	187,6	80,2

#### Table 2. Quality indices of sea buckthorn oil, wheat germ oil and fish oil

#### **Conclusions:**

Analyzing the values in the table above was found the following:

- acidity oils analyzed do not show significant differences, which means that the oils were fresh (Figure 8);
- the higher acidity and peroxide index recorded in wheat germ oil is due to long storage time of raw material (wheat germ) before oil extraction;
- indices of the oils analyzed peroxide not significantly different and fall within the maximum prescribed by the existing rules of 12 meq / kg, a sign that the oils obtained were not degraded after extraction (Figure 9);
- comparing the values of the saponification index (Figure 10) that the average molecular weight fatty acids of wheat germ oil should be higher than the average molecular weight fatty acids in fish oil and sea buckthorn oil;
- comparing the values ofiodine indices it follows that the largest unsaturation degree haswheat germ oil, followed by fish and sea buckthorn oils;

## 2. 2. Determination of quality features of sea buckthorn oil, wheat germ oil and fish oil2.2.1. Determination of beta-carotene of sea buckthorn oil and wheat germ oil

The method consists of extraction of beta-carotene with acetone and then petroleum ether or n-hexane, separation of the other coloring matter on a chromatographic column, then measuring the sample at a wavelength of 430 nm from petroleum ether or n-hexane.

For products containing large amounts of fats, previously is done afatty substances saponification with an alkaline solution of potassium hydroxide in 40% alcohol.

Standard curve was achieved using potassium dichromate standard solution. Were read each standard solutions absorbances then graph absorbance function of concentration [35].

For the calculation of the concentration of beta-carotene was used the formula:

B-carotene =  $\frac{A \times F \times V}{M}$ ; mg/100g

After extraction, measurement and calculation results were obtained in the table 5. Table3. Beta-carotene content of theanalyzed oils

Analyzed oils	Mass, g	β-carotene content, mg/100g
Fish oil	-	-
Buckthorn oil	3,9409	23,3
Wheat germ oil	34,3942	1,9

#### **Conclusions:**

• studying the data in table 5 shows that beta-carotene content from sea buckthorn oil is greater thanwheat germ oil.

Fish oil is an animal product anddoes not contain beta-carotene;

## 2.2.2. Determination of vitamins A, D<sub>3</sub> and E in the fish oil, sea buckthorn oil and wheat germ oil by high performance liquid chromatography

The method consists in extraction of retinol by saponification with potassium hydroxide solution in methanol or ethanol, followed by extraction in a suitable solvent, determination by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) with detection or fluorometrică (F) or photometric (UV), identification of substances based on retention times and determine the external standard method using peak areas or heights of peaks [139].

In this case we used the UV photometric detection.

After the steps described in operating mode were obtained four chromatograms in the standard solutions and one for the other three sample solutions. Every chromatogram

displayed peaks corresponding to specific vitamins, retention times and peak areas for standards and samples.

The results obtained after the calculations are summarized in Table. 6.

Table4. Vitamins A, D<sub>3</sub> and E from sea buckthorn oil, wheat germ oil and fish oil

Oil	Vitamin A, mg/kg	Vitamin E, mg/kg	Vitamin D <sub>3</sub> , µg/kg
Buckthorn oil	153,5	2615,4	2,7
Wheat germ oil	268,6	1281,7	9,3
Fish oil	165,3	2815,9	2,2

#### **Conclusions:**

- The highest vitamin A content is found in wheat germ oil, followed by fish oil and wheat germ;
- The highest vitamin E content is found in fish oil, followed by wheat germ oil and buckthorn oil.
- Consumption of 1g dailyfrom fish oil covers 27% of RDA for vitamin A and 23, 5% of the RDA for vitamin E
- Consumption of 1g daily from sea buckthorn oil covering 15% of RDA for vitamin A and 21, 8% for vitamin E.
- Consumption of 1g daily from wheat germ oil covers 27% of RDA for vitamin A and 10, 7% of the RDA for vitamin E
- Vitamin D<sub>3</sub> content from analyzed oils is small; a rate of almost 20% of the RDA of vitamin D<sub>3</sub> consumption is covered by 100g wheat germ oil.

#### 2.2.3. Determination of microelements (Cu, Zn)

Principle of the method consist în sample calcination at 450 ° C with gradual increase of temperature, ash dissolved in hydrochloric acid and evaporation to dryness the solution obtained, the residue dissolved in nitric acid 1:6 and final determination of metals by furnace atomic absorption spectrometry graphite [142].

After the steps described in operating mode and the calculations were obtained the results in Table No. 8.

Oil	Zn, mg/kg	Cu, mg/kg
Buckthorn oil	3,5	0,13
Wheat germ oil	5,2	0,58
Fish oil	2	0,07

#### Table5. Zn and Cu content from sea buckthorn oil, wheat germ oil and fish oil

#### **Conclusions:**

- The data presented in Table 8 shows that wheat germ oil is rich in Zn and Cu than sea buckthorn oil and wheat germ oil;
- Sea buckthorn oils, wheat germ oil and fish oil are not important sources of micronutrients Zn, Cu because to cover 34.7% from the recommended daily allowance for zinc and 38.7% of RDA for copper should consume 1 kg from oil wheat germ.

#### 2.2.4. Determination of fatty acid composition of sea buckthorn oil, wheat germ and fish

Working method consists of two stages:

- Preparation of fatty acid methyl esters
- Analysis of fatty acid methyl esters by gas chromatography

After studyingobtained chromatograms results are shown in tables No. 9-11.

Table 6. Fatty acid composition of sea buckthorn oil

Fatty acids	Content (%)
Myristicacid C14:0	0,26
Palmitic acid C16:0	35,01
Palmitoleic acid C16:1	27,7
Stearic acid C18:0	0,89
Oleic acid C18:1	22,52
Cis-vaccenic acid C18:1	8,12
Linoleic acid C18:2 (omega 6)	3,7
Linolenic acid C18:3 (omega 3)	0,94
Peanutacid C20:0	0,17
Behenic acid C22:0	0,25
Lignoceric acid C24:0	0,18
Saturated fatty acids	36,76
Unsaturated fatty acids, of which:	62
- monounsaturated	58,34
- polyunsaturated	3,7
Report omega 6: omega-3	4:1
Average molecular weight	24889

Table 7. Fatty acid composition of fish oil

Fatty acids	Content (%)
Myristic acid C14:0	7,7
Myristoleic acidC14:1	3,0
Pentadecanoic acidC15:0	0,6
Palmiticacid C16:0	19,56
Palmitoleic acid C16:1	10,75
Hexadecadienoic acid C 16:2	0,95
Hexadecatrienoic acid C16:3 (omega 3)	2
Hexadecatetraenoic acid C16:4	1,6
Margaric acid C17:0	0,2
Stearic acidC18:0	5,6
Oleic acid C18:1	13,9
Linoleic acid C18:2 (omega 6)	1,34
Alfa linolenic acid C18:3 (omega 3)	0,8
Arachidic acid C20:0	0,1
Gadoleic acid C20:1	0,7
Arachidonic acid C20:4 (omega 6)	2,5
Eicosapentaenoic acid C20:5 (omega 3)	14,87
Behenic acid C22:0	0,22
Clupanodonicacid C22:5 (omega 3)	1,7
Docosahexanoic acid C22:6 (omega 3)	8,3
Saturated fatty acids	33,98
Unsaturated fatty acids, of which:	64,19
- monounsaturated	29,43
- polyunsaturated	34,76
Report omega 6: omega 3	0,15:1
Average molecular weight	24786

Fatty acids	Content (%)
Palmitic acid C16:0	22,76
Stearic acid C18:0	0,84
Oleic acid C18:1	15,46
Cis-vaccenic acid C18:1	1,14
Linoleic acid C18:2 (omega	6) 51,75
Linolenic acid C18:3 (omega 3)	6,65
Eicosanoic acid C20:0	1,40
Saturated fatty acids	25,01
Unsaturated fatty acids, of which:	75
- monounsaturated	16,6
- polyunsaturated	58,4
Report omega 6: omega 3	8:1
Average molecular weight	25922

Table 8. Fatty acid composition of wheat germ oil

#### **Conclusions:**

- the oil rich in unsaturated fatty acids is wheat germ oil with 75% followed by 64.19% fish oil and sea buckthorn oil by 62%;
- the richest oil in polyunsaturated fatty acids is wheat germ oil with a rate of 58.4%, followed by 34.76% fish oil and sea buckthorn oil with only 3.7%;
- linoleic acid (omega 6)highestcontent is in wheat germ oil at the rate of 51.75%;
- large amounts of oleic acid was found in sea buckthorn oil (22.52%), wheat germ oil (15.46%) and in fish oil (13.9%);
- is recommended to use these oils rich in oleic acid because maintain the level of HDLcholesterol and prevent growth of triglycerides in the blood;
- sea buckthorn oils, wheat germ and fish, along with other vegetable oils should replace saturated fats in the diet;
- from a diet of 2,000 calories, fatty acids should be about 30%, of which about 7% to saturated fatty acids, 8-9%monounsaturated and 9-11% polyunsaturated; theratio polyunsaturated fatty acids / saturated fatty acids is better to be 1.25 to 1.5;
- by this requirement is closest fish oil with a atio polyunsaturated fatty acid / saturated fatty acids closed to 1;

- saturated fats in the diet contributes to increased LDL-cholesterol and total cholesterol in the blood to the detriment HDL-cholesterol;
- sea buckthorn oils, wheat germ oil and fish oil contain 62%, 75% and 64.2% unsaturated fatty acids and the ratio unsaturated fatty acids (UFAs)/ saturated fatty acids (SFAs) is 1.7%, 3% and 1.9% falling under based on these considerations into the class "Lipids with high biological value";
- iodine index indicating the degree of unsaturation of fatty acids of sea buckthorn oil 71.5, 80.2 and 110.7 fish oil in wheat germ oil, is directly proportional to the content of unsaturated fatty acids, respectively 62 % UFAsin sea buckthorn oil, 64.19% UFAs in fish oil and 75% UFAs in wheat germ oil;
- saponification index, indicating the average molecular weight from fatty acid composition of oils from fish, sea buckthorn, wheat germ is 187.6, 200.3 respectively 248.3, its value is directly proportional to molecular weight average, respectively 24 786 g / mol for fish oil, 24 889 g / mol to 25 922 sea buckthorn oil and wheat germ oil..

#### 3. The safety features of sea buckthorn oil, wheat germ oil and fish oil

#### 3.1. Determinations of heavy metals Pb, Cd, Hg

#### 3.1.1. Determination of heavy metals (Pb, Cd) by graphite furnace AAS

The principle of this method consists in sample calcination at 450 ° C with gradual increase of temperature, ash dissolved in hydrochloric acid and evaporation to dryness the solution obtained, dissolutionthe final residue in nitric acidsolution 1:6 with water and determination of metals by furnace atomic absorption spectrometry graphite [142].

After sample preparation and measurement were obtained spectral recordings for each element determined in part according to related spectral records.

## **3.1.2.** Determination of Hg content from sea buckthorn oil, wheat germ and fish by flame atomic absorption spectrometry

In atomic absorption spectrometry flaming radiation of wavelength specific items to investigate, which is absorbed by the atoms present in the ground state. Absorption is proportional to the concentration of atoms in the flame, so the concentration of the solution.

Atoms from sample solution are issued using flame produced by burning a gaseous fuel consists in an air-acetylene mixture, which prepared the sample solution is sprayed under review (flame temperature must be about  $2500 \,^{\circ}$  C).

After the calculations were obtained from results table. 15.

Table 9. The contents of Pb, Cd and Hg from sea buckthorn oil, wheat germ oil and fish oil

Oil	Pb, mg/kg	Cd,mg/kg	Hg,mg/kg
Buckthorn oil	0,037	0,0027	Sld
Wheat germ oil	0,061	0,0033	Sld
Fish oil	0,042	0,0023	0,024

#### **Conclusions:**

After studying the results it finds that:

- Highest content of lead and cadmium was determined in wheat germ oil, a possible source of lead contamination could be the exhaust gases of the cars road transport because at present still widely used fuel treated with tetraethyl-lead to decrease the effect of detonating engines. In areas with intensive automobile traffic lead pollution of soil and vegetation is well known;
- Highest mercury content was determined in fish oil as a possible source of contamination of industrial because wastes are discharged into seas and oceans.
- World production of mercury exceeds the the number of 10,000 t / year. Sea water contains concentrations of the order of 30 mg / 1 at the surface, with a tendency to increase depth. A total Hg in seawater is estimated at 108 tonnes.
- Due to reduced biodegradation f its derivatives, Hg tends to focus on different types of organisms.

- For example, algae can accumulate in their cells over 100 times more than there is in water. Pelagic fish like tuna, captured at great distances from sources of pollution can accumulate up to 120 ppb Hg [5].
- Sea buckthorn oil is the least contaminated because the origin of raw material from which was extracted is an unpolluted mountain area, traces of lead and cadmium found can come from extraction equipment;
- Wheat germ oil, fish and sea buckthorn contain quantities of heavy metals below the maximum allowed by applicable law.

#### **3.2.** Determination of organochlorine pesticide residues contamination

#### Gas chromatographic method for the determination of organochlorine pesticide residues

By this method organochlorine pesticide residues from fat or etheric extract of the sample are trained selectively with acetonitrile.

In acetonitrile are reproduced with petroleum ether and purified by selective adsorption florisil column and here are extracted, all selectively, with an eluent composed of a mixture of petroleum ether, ethyl ether and ethyl alcohol [143].

Elution fluid concentrate is subjected to gas chromatographic determination. Individual residues, calculated and expressed in mg to 1 kg product (ppm) is fixed to a reference standard containing known amounts from pesticides to be investigated [145].

The method has two stages:

- A. Extraction and purification
- B. Determination of organochlorine pesticide residues from eluate obtained

Calculations for each sample for each type of organochlorine pesticide were performed in Excel.

The results are summarized in Tables No. 17-19.

Table 10	Organochlorine	pesticide residues	from sea	buckthorn oil
	Organochionne	pesticide residues	nom sea	DUCKIIOIII OII

Organochlorine pesticide residues from sea buckthorn oil										
	Sample					Standard				
Туре	area	Constant	Ce	R	M <sub>p</sub>	area	Conc.(ppm)	CMA		
2,4 DDT	100728	5	1	82,1	3,1356	933387	0,0021	0,05		
4,4' DDT	81987	5	1	75,9	3,1356	829013	0,0021			

Organochlorine pesticide residues from wheat germ oil								
	Sample					Standard		
Tip	area	Constant	Ce	R	M <sub>p</sub>	area	Conc. (ppm)	CMA
A-HCH	400316	5	1	76,8	3,4415	3511942	0,0022	0,004
B-HCH	330559	5	1	80,6	3,4415	2877445	0,0021	0,003
G-HCH	120459	5	1	78,4	3,4415	1045534	0,0021	0,008
Aldrin	344358	5	1	79,2	3,4415	2851943	0,0022	0,006
Dieldrin	202232	5	1	81,4	3,4415	1900857	0,0019	0,006

### Table 11.Organochlorine pesticide residues from wheat germ oil

Table 12. Organochlorine pesticide residues from fish oil

Organochlorine pesticide residues from fish oil								
	Sample					Standard		
Tip	area	Constant	Ce	R	M <sub>p</sub>	area	Conc.(PPm)	CMA
Aldrin	304435	5	1	79,2	3,5103	2851943	0,0019	0,006
Dieldrin	202923	5	1	81,4	3,5103	1900857	0,0019	0,006
2,4DDT	100728	5	1	82,1	3,5103	933387	0,0019	5
4,4DDT	819874	5	1	75,9	3,5103	829013	0,0186	
4,4DDE	680972	5	1	78,1	3,5103	688465	0,0180	
4,4DDD	882803	5	1	77,5	3,5103	834320	0,0194	

# **Conclusions:**

- in sea buckthorn oil organochlorine pesticide residues detected were those of DDT which are summarized below maximum permissible concentration (0.0042 about ten timessmaller then 0.05);
- in wheat germ oil were found residues of isomers (α, β, γ) HCH and aldrin and dieldrin residues that are smaller than the maximum permissible concentration in all cases;
- maximum permissible concentration was considered that fixed for fruit, vegetables and cereals by Order ANSVA / MS / MAFRD / ANPC nr.12/286/173/124 2006;
- in fish oil pesticide residues detected are aldrin, dieldrin, DDT isomers, 4-4 'DDE and 4 4' DDD which summarized are under the concentration of 5mg/kg fat fixed by the Codex Alimentarius;
- DDT is currently considered a "themain citizen of the world " because it was found throughout the Arctic Circle to the equator [113];

- concentrations of DDT and its metabolites showed that the affinity for fat storage is related to each chemical compound (Morgan and Roan, 1971) and increases in the order 4,4 'DDD <4,4'-DDT <4, 4 'DDE;</li>
- it is estimated that the amount of DDT in the human body reaches about 6ppm. Because of its high toxicity and retention, DDT was banned in many countries, but was replaced by other organochlorine substances as toxic;
- presence of DDT in the environment is greater than total HCH's, similar with  $\beta$ -HCH isomer the regarding capacity of retention. However, itschronic harmfulness is smaller. This is why the CMA is higher (5 mg / kg fat to 0.003 mg / kg  $\beta$ -HCH in the case).
- in the case of fish oil is noted that on the chromatogram, with DDT, DDE appeared because after a period as the existence in the environment, DDT undergoes biotransformation processes in which the DDE is the main metabolite.
- Numerous studies have shown that the DDE has a much higher chemical stability as DDT, which causes in time to gradually decrease the proportion of DDT and to increase theDDE.
- In conclusion, it is considered that although in the investigated oils were found small amounts of residues of HCH, aldrin, dieldrin and DDT they do not risk human health, especially since oils are not consumed in large quantities.
- presence of pesticide residues in studied oils once again proves their affinity for fats and their ability to remanence long after restricting their use.

# **3.3.** Determination of radioactive contamination

# 3.3.1. Determination of alfa-beta radioactive ontamination

Beta radiation are much easier and faster than alpha. They traveled by air and are more penetrating than alpha.

Neutral particles or electromagnetic radiation to be detected must interact, in a first phase with a detector substance or auxiliary substance to produce charged secondary particles (electrons, protons, alpha particles) which are detected in a second stage by specific methods of charged particles.

The detector used to measure beta radioactivity was a detector based on light emission of excited atoms or molecules (scintillation detector).

Samples did not require special training, measurements being made on the sample itself

After connecting the device to power supply and starting, the background was initial measured at 1000s, then source (Sr + Y) 90 at 3000s.

There were set the parameters for measuring the sample, namely time measurement at 3000s and then introduced a gram of sample in tray measuring which was introduced in the lead castle.

From the menu displayed on the screen was selected "Start measurement". After the measurements, were listed measurement reports containing the results of measurements in the time selected in relation to each type of sample measured.

From reports were centralized measurement results in Table 20.

Table 13. Beta activity of sea buckthorn oil, wheat germ oil and fish oil

	Buckthorn oil	Fish oil	Wheat germ oil
Beta activity (Bq/g)	1,0	1,0	1,0
Conclusions			

Conclusions:

• samples analyzed have low global beta activity and does not indicate a beta radiation contamination and alpha activity is below the limit of detection equipment;

# 3.3.2. Determination of gamma radioactive contamination

The most used method for determining the concentration of radionuclides in the samples is gamma spectrometric measurement performed in the laboratory. This method is nondestructive for the sample and allows the obtaining in the same time of concentrations of many radionuclides. The method is based on gamma radiation interaction with substance.

Samples were transferred into working geometry, which consisted of PVC boxes of about 150 ml (Figure 44). These were sealed with paraffin and left for about a month for natural series radionuclides to reach equilibrium. They were then weighed.

The steps taken for the measuring of a sample were:

- energy calibration;
- efficiency calibration;
- laboratory background radiation measurement, which is subtracted from the sample spectrum;
- radiation spectrum of the sample collection;

- spectrum recording;
- spectrum analysis

The mass, the method of samples preparation, the measurement and geometry of the sample during the analysis are summarized in Table 21. After processing the spectral data obtained from records in Figures 46-48 there were obtained the following gamma activity values for the analyzed samples:

Sample information	Buckthorn oil	Fish oil	Wheat germ oil
Time of analysis	61338s	40394s	31521s
Geometry	150ml box	150ml box	150ml box
Sample preparation	Drying at 105°C	Drying at 105°C	Drying at 105°C
Sample wheight	131g	128g	129g

Table 14. Weight, time of analysis, the preparation and geometry of samples analyzed

Table15. Natural radioactivity

U-238 Series	Buckthorn oil Activity, Bq/kg	Fish oil Activity, Bq/kg	Wheat germ oil Activity, Bq/kg
Th-234 (U-238)	<6.36	<34.1	<9.27
Ra-226	<17.0	9.39± 3.1	<17.8
Pb-210	<7.21	<9.09	<10.4
Bi-214	<2.36	<2.77	<3.06
Pb-214	<2.05	<3.24	<3.27
U-235	<1.04	$0.51 \pm 0.19$	<1.09
Ac-228(Th-232)	<3.97	<4.8	<5.53
Pb-212	<1.62	<2.03	<2.34
K-40	<26.8	<34.1	21.7±10.6
Be-7	<8.49	<11	<12.6

It is assumed that U-238 is at equilibrium with Th-234 and Th-232 AC-228Tabelul nr. 16.

Table 23. Artificial radioactivity

	Buckthorn oil	Fish oil	Wheat germ oil
Cs-137	<1.22	<1.54	<1.69

### **Conclusions:**

Studying the results from Tables 22 and 23, the following are to be mentioned:

- speaking of natural radioactivity, isotopes of Uranium series (U-238), thorium, actinouranium and radionuclides K-40 and Be-7 are below the detection limit of the equipment used;
- artificial radioactivity represented by Cs-137 radioactive isotope has similar values at the three oils analyzed, and small value as compared with the maximum value allowed, i.e 200Bq/kg for milk and drinking water and 500 Bq / kg for plant products, a sign that the effects of the Chernobil nuclear accident decreased considerably;
- The allowed maximum limits of the radionuclides concentrations in water and food are calculated so that the effective dose as a result of ingestion of radioactively contaminated water and food does not exceed 5 mSv per year;
- Also the low levels of the radioactivity of the studied oils show that the plants from its derived does not store any radioactive isotopes as lichens and tree buds.

# IV. Final conclusions, original studies, future research directions:

In the present paper I proposed to conduct a comprehensive study on sea buckthorn oil, wheat germ oil and fish oil.

I have approached this study from two perspectives: the quality of the analyzed oils and the food safety of these oils.

In terms of qualitative features I have found that:

- the freshness characteristics, acidity and peroxide indices of the analyzed oils were low, which proves that the raw materials from which they were extracted were fresh and the extraction methods did not affect their quality;
- saponification and iodine indices have high values, being closely connected with average molecular weight andrespectively with the unsaturation degree of fatty acids constituents;

- The main constituents of the analyzed oils are lipids, substances with high nutritional value containing saturated and unsaturated fatty acids with multiple roles in the body;
- these lipids provides a high energy value, knowing that 1 g fat equals 9.1 calories, 1 g carbohydrate, 1g protein respectively are equivalent to 4.1 calories each;
- the significant quantities of unsaturated fatty acids and the good report of omega-3 and omega-6 in these oils, classifies them as lipids with high biological value;
- as active principle, all analyzed oils contain significant amounts of fat soluble vitamins A, D<sub>3</sub> and E and sea buckthorn oil and wheat germ oil also contain a precursor of vitamin A, β-carotene; these oils are considered to be a worthy source to fill the deficit of fat-soluble vitamins;
- as representatives of the microelements in the analyzed oils there were found insignificant amounts of Cu and Zn, these oils should not be considered a source for Cu and Zn gap in the body.

In terms of food safety I have found that:

- by its chemical nature, the main constituents being lipids, these oils are not a favorable environment for growth of microorganisms, so they do not present microbiological risks;
- heavy metals presented in the analyzed samples were lead, cadmium and mercury, the quantities present in these oils is less than the maximum allowed;
- pesticide residues detected in theanalyzed oils were DDT, DDE's, HCH (isomers of α, β, γ), aldrin and dieldrin, all under the maximum allowed concentration;
- speaking of radioactive contamination, analyzed oils have low beta activity and speaking of gamma contamination, the radioactive isotopes from the natural series had values below the detection limit of the used equipment and the concentration of artificial isotope Cs-137 was below maximum allowed.

All these considerations argue in favor of the use of sea buckthorn oil, wheat germ oil and fish oil such as food and as food supplements.

The originality of the studies accomplished in this thesis is based on:

- The complete characterization of the analyzed oils;

- their analyses from the point of view of the radioactive contamination in the context of the Chernobyl accident consequences, Romania being one of the states under supervision, even after a lapse of 15 years after the accident as well as the nuclear accident at Fukushima, Japan from March 2011.

The studies presented in this thesis are complex and fall within the general requirements of the current characterization of novel foods and food supplements in terms of quality and food safety.

PhD theme falls within the priority for the characterization of foods, conducted both food producers as well as authorized control institutions.

Studies proposed in this thesis are intended to complement the existing studies on sea buckthorn oil, wheat germ oil and fish oil and can be regarded as a starting point for the performance of complete studies of other types of foods and food supplements.

### **Published works:**

- Mărculescu Angela, Văduva Mihai, Jâscanu Vasile, Popa Vasile, Crăciun Isabela Contribuții la obținerea unor extracte biologic active cu fluide supercritice, Proceedings of the International Conference "Agricultural and Food Sciences, Processes and Technologies", vol. I, pag.308-313, ISBN 973-739-094-6, 12-13 May 2005, Sibiu, Romania
- Isabela Crăciun, Angela Mărculescu, Mihai Văduva Studiu comparativ asupra parametrilor fizico-chimici ai uleiurilor vegetale de cătină şi germeni de grâu obținute prin tehnologii moderne şi clasice, 30 iunie-2 iulie, 2006, Braşov, Romania
- Angela Mărculescu, Daniela Hanganu, Vasile Popa, Mihai Văduva, Daniela Ionescu, Neli Olah, Laurian Vlase, Isabela Crăciun – Calitatea şi eficiența extracției cu lichide supercritice, Congres Farmacie, volum rezumate pag.184, septembrie 2006, Cluj
- Mărculescu Angela, Hanganu Daniela, Pintea Adela, Dumitru Mariana, Crăciun Isabela The study of some vegetable oils rich in essential fatty acids- omega 3, omega 6, Acta Universitatis Cibiniensis- Seria Științe Agricole, Vol. I, nr.1(6), ISSN 1582-8549, 2006
- Crăciun Isabela, Mărculescu Angela, Georgescu Cecilia, Bratu Iuliana The β-carotene of seaberry and wheat germs oils extract by classical and modern technologies, Proceedings of the International Conference "Agricultural and Food Sciences, Processes and Technologies", Third edition, vol. I, pag. 105-106, ISBN 1843-0694, 26-27April 2007, Sibiu, Romania
- Văduva Mihai, Mărculescu Angela, Căpăţână Ciprian, Jâscanu Vasile, Crăciun Isabela Supercritical carbon dioxide extraction of wheat germs oil, Proceedings of the International Conference "Agricultural and Food Sciences, Processes and Technologies", Third edition, vol. I, pag. 99-101, ISBN 1843-0694, 26-27April 2007, Sibiu, Romania
- Georgescu Cecilia, Bratu Iuliana, Crăciun Isabela, Turtureanu Adrian Qualitative analysis of flavonic glycosides and phenylpropanic derivates from Teucrium Chamaedrys Specie, Proceedings of the International Conference "Agricultural and Food Sciences, Processes andTechnologies", Third edition, vol. I, pag. 107-110, ISBN 1843-0694, 26-27April 2007, Sibiu, Romania
- 8. Cecilia Georgescu, Isabela Crăciun, Iuliana Bratu, Adrian Turtureanu –The quantitative analysis of flavonoid compounds in the species of Teucrium Chamaedrys and Hippophae

Rhamnoides, Journal of Agroalimentary Processes and Technologies, vol. XIII, No. I (2007), pag. 139-142, Communication-Food Control

- 9. Isabela Crăciun, Anca Gavril, Cecilia Georgescu, Angela Mărculescu The assay of vitamins A, D<sub>3</sub> and E content from Sea Buckthorn and wheat germ oil with purpose to use them like food supplements, Etnofarmacologia în sprijinul unei alimentații sănătoase- al III-lea Simpozion de Etnofarmacologie cu participare internațională, pag.40, 19 – 22 iunie 2008, Editura Print Atu
- Cecilia Georgescu, Iuliana Bratu, Monica Mironescu, Marian Tămaş Investigation of the composition of Rhododendron Kotschy Simk. Volatile oil by GC-MS, International Symposium on New Researches in Biotechnology, Special Volume, pag. 77, ISSN 1224-7774, Bucharest, 2008
- 11. Isabela Crăciun, Mihaela Chefani, Cecilia Georgescu, Vasile Jăscanu The assay of heavy metals content from Sea Buckthorn, wheat germs and fish oils with purpose to estimate theirs food security like foods and foods supplements, International Symposium on New Researches in Biotechnology, Special Volume, pag. 91, ISSN 1224-7774, Bucharest, 2008
- Isabela Crăciun, Anca Gavril, Cecilia Georgescu, Vasile Jâscanu Copper and Zinc content of seaberry, wheat germs and fish oils, Acta Universitatis Cibiniensis Series E: Food Technology, Vol.XII, pag.35-38, 2008, No.2, ISSN 1221-4973, Universitatea Lucian Blaga, Sibiu, Romania.

#### **Bibliography:**

- 1. AOAC Official Methodes of Analysis, Metals and other elements, 2000, Chapter 9;
- 2. ApostuS., Managementul calității alimentelor, Editura Risoprint, Cluj Napoca, 2004;
- Aidos I., Vander Padt A., Luter J.B., Boom R.M., Seasonal changes in crude and lipid composition of herring fillets, byproducts and respective produced oils. *Journal of Agriculture Food Chemistry*, 50,(2002), 4589–4599;
- Akihisa T., Tokuda H., Ogata M., Ukiya M., Iizuka M., Suzuki T., MetoriK., Shimizu N., Nishino H., Cancer chemopreventive effects of polyunsaturated fatty acids, Cancer Letters 205 (2004) 9-13, www.sciencedirect.com;
- Asia L., Mazouz S., Guiliano M., Doumenq P., Mille G., Marine Pollution Buletin, 58, 443-451, 2009;
- Badea E., Băbeanu C., Marinescu G., Glodeanu E., Caiet de lucrări practice de biochimie generală, Tipografia universității din Craiova, Craiova, 2000;
- Bai, Y., Zhou L., Li J., Organochlorine pesticide (HCH and DDT) residues in dietary products from Shaanxi province, People's Republic of China, Bull. EnvironContam. Toxicol.,2006, 76, 422-46;
- Bahuaud D., Ostbye T-K., Torstense B.E., Rora M.B., Ofstad R., Veiseth E., Thomassen M.S., Ruyter B., Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo Salar*) muscle structure integrity and lysosomal cathepsins B and L influenced by dietary n-6 and n-3 fatty acids, Food Chemistry, 114 (2009) 1421-1432, www.sciencedirect.com;
- 9. Banciu A.S., Ciacoi Dimitriu D., Descoperiri epocale în biochimie, Editura Albatros, București, 1990;
- 10. Banu C., Tratat de chimia alimentelor, Editura Agir, București
- Banu C., Preda N., Vasu S.S.- Produsele alimentare şi inocuitatea lor, Editura Tehnică, Bucureşti, 1982;
- Banu C., Bărăscu E., Stoica A., Nicolau A.: Suveranitate, securitate şi siguranţă alimentară, Bucureşti, Editura ASAB, 2007;
- Banu C.,BordeiD.,CostinGh., SegalB., Influența proceselor tehnologice asupra calității produselor alimentare, editura Tehnică, Bucureşti, 1974;
- 14. Balint C., Segal B., Procedee de îmbunătățire a calității produselor alimentare;
- BaraV.,C. Laslo, Elemente de ecotoxicologie si protecția mediului înconjurător, Ed. Universitățiidin Oradea, 1997;
- Beir, V. I. Health effects of exposure to radon. Report of the Committee on the Biological effects of IonizingRadiation, National Research Council (Washington, DC: National Academy Press) (1999);
- Berset, C., M.E. Cuvelier, Methodes d'evaluation du degree d'oxydation des lipides et de mesure du pouvoir antioxidant, *Science des Aliments*, 16 (1996), 219-245;
- 19. Bojor O., Popescu O., Miracolele terapeutice ale plantelor, Edimpex Speranța SRL, București, 1993;
- 20. Brad I., Brad L., Cătina albă o farmacie într-o plantă, Editura tehnică, București, 2002;

- 21. Brad I., Biochimia cătinei albe I, Revista Știință și tehnică, nr.4/1981;
- 22. Brad I., Biochimia cătinei albe II, Revista Știință și Tehnică, nr.5/1982;
- Bungău S., Merca V., Copolovici L., Analiză instrumentală şi metode de separare, Ed. Universității din Oradea, 2004;
- 24. Cadenas E., Packer L., Handbook of Antioxidants, Marcel Dekker Inc., 2nd Edition, 2002, 1-5;
- 25. Carte Tehnică, Monitor de radiații alfa beta de fond scăzut tip MAB-06;
- Cerhan J.R., Saag K.G., Merlino L.A., Mikuls T.R., Criswell L.A., Antioxidant micronutrients and risk of rheumatiod arthritis în a cohort of older women, Am. J. Epidemiol., 157, 345-354, (2003);
- Chakroborty K., Paul Raj R., Selective enrichment of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acisd with C<sub>18</sub>-C<sub>20</sub> acryl chain length from sardine oil using *Pseudomonas fluorescens* MTCC 2421 lipase, Food Chemistry 114 (2009) 142-150, <u>www.sciencedirect.com</u>;
- Chan EJ, Cho L.What can we expect from omega-3 fatty acids? In Cleve Clin J Med. 2009 Apr;76(4):245-51;
- 29. Chrastil J. Solubility of solids and liquids in supercritical gases. J Phys Chem 86: 3016-3021, 1982;
- 30. Clepan, D.: Poluarea mediului, Ed. Altip, Alba Iulia, 2000;
- Commission Regulation (EC) No. 1881/2006. Official Journal of the European Union, 20.12.2006. L 364/5;
- 32. Cotrău M., PROCA M., Toxicologie analitică, Ed. Medicală, București, 1988;
- Covaci A., Hura C, Schepens P., Selected persistent organochlorine pollutants in Romania, The Science of The Total Environment, 2001, 280(1-3), 143-152;
- Crăciun I., Mărculescu A., Văduva M., Studiu comparativ asupra parametrilor fizico-chimici ai uleiurilor vegetale de cătină și germeni de grâu obținute prin tehnologii moderne și clasice, 30 iunie-2 iulie, 2006, Brașov, Romania;
- 35. Crăciun I., Mărculescu A., Georgescu C., Bratu I., The β-carotene of seaberry and wheat germs oils extract by classical and modern technologies, Proceedings of the International Conference "Agricultural and Food Sciences, Processes and Technologies", Third edition, vol. I, pag. 105-106, ISBN 1843-0694, 26-27April 2007, Sibiu, Romania;
- 36. Crăciun I., Gavril A., Georgescu C., Mărculescu A., The assay of vitamins A, D<sub>3</sub> and E content from Sea Buckthorn and wheat germ oil with purpose to use them like food supplements, Etnofarmacologia în sprijinul unei alimentații sănătoase- al III-lea Simpozion de Etnofarmacologie cu participare internațională, pag.40, 19 – 22 iunie 2008, Editura Print Atu;
- 37. Crăciun I., Chefani M., Georgescu C., Jâscanu V., The assay of heavy metals content from Sea Buckthorn, wheat germs and fish oils with purpose to estimate theirs food security like foods and foods supplements, International Symposium on New Researches in Biotechnology, Special Volume, pag. 91, ISSN 1224-7774, Bucharest, 2008;
- Crăciun I., Gavril A., Georgescu C., Jâscanu V., Copper and Zinc content of seaberry, wheat germs and fish oils, Acta Universitatis Cibiniensis Series E: Food Technology, Vol.XII, pag.35-38, 2008, No.2, ISSN 1221-4973, Universitatea Lucian Blaga, Sibiu, Romania;

- Cunha S.C., Amaral J.S., Fernandes J.O., Quantifications of tocopherols and tocotrienols in Portuguese olive oils using HPLC with three different detection systems, J Agric Food Chem 2006, 54(9), 3351, www.sciencedirect.com;
- Curierul de fizică, supliment 1/97, Curs de radioactivitate pentru supravegherea radioactivității mediului, Editura Horia Hulubei, Bucureşti, 1997;
- DalmeydaV., DavidC., Chromatographie en phase liquide, Stage Cacemi, Johnson and Stevenson, 1999;
- Daly, G.L., Wania F., Organic contaminants in mountains, Environ. Sci.Technol., 2005, 39(1), 385-398;
- 43. Darie N., Biochimie aplicații practice, Editura Alma Mater, Sibiu, 2002;
- 44. De Leenheer, A. P., Lambert ,W. E., De Uyter, M. G., (Eds) Modern Chromatographic Analysis of the Vitamins, 2nd edn, Chromatographic Science Series, Vol. 30, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1985;
- 45. Derevich I. V. And Shindyapkin A. A., Extraction of organic Oil from Sea Buckthorn Seeds with Supercritical Carbon Dioxide, Theoretical Foundations of Chemical Engineering, Vol.38, No.3, 2004
- 46. Detector User's manual, Canberra industries, 800 Research Parkway, Meriden CT 06-45091998;
- 47. Dogaru C. I., Metode de laborator în biochimie, Ed. Mirton, Timișoara, 1996;
- Dorobanţu, P., Beceanu, D., Uleiuri vegetale mai puţin utilizate în alimentaţie, Lucr.Ştiinţifice U.Ş.A.M.V., Seria Agricultură, vol.50, Iaşi, 2007;
- Dumitru, C., Metode și tehnici de control ale produselor alimentare și alimentație publică, Ed. Ceres, București, 1980
- 50. Drăgulescu C., Plantele alimentare din flora spontană a României;
- 51. Dumitrescu H., Milu C., Controlul fizico-chimic al alimentelor, Editura Medicală, București, 1997;
- Dunford, N.T., and J. Martinez, Nutritional Components of Supercritical Carbon Dioxide Extracted Wheat Germ Oil, in 6<sup>th</sup> International Symposium on Supercritical Fluids, Versailles, France, 2003, p. 273-278;
- EFSA, Opinion of the Scientfic Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain on a request from the Commission related to Gamma – HCH and other hexachlorocyclohexanes as undesirable substances in animal feed, The EFSA Journal, 250, 1-39, 2005;
- EFSA, b, Opinion of the Scientfic Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain on a requestfrom the Commission related to DDT as undesirable substances in animal feed, The EFSA Journal, 433, 1-69; 2006;
- 55. Elyakov G.B., Kuznetsova T.A., Stonik V.A., Mikhailov V.V., New trends of marine biotechnology development, Pure & Appl. Chem., 66(4), 811-818, 1994;
- 56. Fan X.H., Y.Y., Cheng, Z.L., Ye, RC, Lin, Z.Z., Qian, Multiple chromatographic fingerprinting and its application to the quality control of herbal medicine. Analytica Chim. Acta 555, 2006., 217-224;
- 57. FAO, The State of Food Insecurity in the World, FAO, Rome, 2003;
- 58. Farmacopeea Română, ediția X;
- 59. Găinar I., Extracții cu fluide supercritice, Editura Ars Docendi, București, 2000;
- 60. Genova Diagnostics. Test Catalog. Essential & Metabolic Fatty Acids Analysis (EMFA). www.genovadiagnostics.com.Ref Type: Internet Communication;

- Giri L., Andola H.C., Purohit V.K., Rawat M.S., Rawal R.S., Bhatt I.D., Chromatographic and spectral fingerprinting standardization of traditional medicines: an overview as modern tools. Res J Phytochem 4: 2010, 234-241;
- Gocan, S., Cromatografia de înaltă performanță, partea I, Cromatografia de gaze, Ed. Dacia, Cluj-Napoca, 1998;
- Granby, K., Petersen A., Herrmann S. S., Poulsen M. E., Levels of Pesticides in Food and Food Safety, Chap. 11 în Analysis of Pesticides in Food and Environmental Samples (Tadeo J. L., Ed), CRC Press, Taylor & Frances Group Boca Raton, London, New York, 287-318, 2008;
- 64. Harris D. C., Quantitative Chemical Analysis, W. H. Freeman, New York, 1991;
- Hofmann W, Koblinger L, Mohamed A. Incorporation of biological variability into lung dosimetry by stochasticmodeling techniques. Environ Int. 1996;22:995-1003;
- Haque, A. K. M. and Collinson, A. J. L. Radiation dose to the respiratory system due to radon and its daughterproducts. Health Phys. 13, 431–443 (1967);
- HossuA.-M., C. Rădulescu, Elemente de Chimie Anorganică şi Analitică, Vol. 1 şi2, Editura Electra, ISBN 973-7728-80-7, 2006;
- 68. Hura, C., Ghid de laborator Metode de analiză pentru produse alimentare, Ed. Cermi, Iași, 2006;
- Hussain K, Majeed M.T., Ismail Z., Sadikun A., Ibrahim P., Complementary and alternative medicine: quality assessment strategies and safe usage. Southern Med Rev, 2009, 1(2), 19-23;
- Huynh M.D., Kitts D.D., Evaluating nutritional quality of pacific fish species from fatty acid signatures, Food Chemistry, 114 (2009), 912-918, <u>www.sciencedirect.com</u>;
- 71. Ito N., Hirose M., Fukushima S., Shirai T., Tatematsu M., Food Chem. Toxicol., 1986,24, 10-11, 1071.
- 72. Ivanovic D., Medenica M., Chromatographia, 40, 1995, 652;
- 73. ISO 5509/2000: Animal and vegetable fats and oils Preparation of methyl esters of fatty acids;
- Jones G., Seamark D.A., Trafford D.J.H., Makin H.L.J., Modern Chromatographic Analysis ofVitamins(2nd edition, A.P. De Luyner, W.E. Lambert & J. Nelis eds, Chromatographic Sciences Series), 60, 73, 1992;
- 75. Katse Piet-Maphoto, Determination of natural radioactivity concentration in soil, University of Western Cape, aug 2004;
- Kegley, S., B. Hill, Orme S., PAN Pesticide Database, Pesticide Action Network, North America, San Francisco, 2007, CA. http://www.pesticideinfo.org;
- Kornprobst J.M., Substances naturelles d'origine marine, Editions TEC & DOC, London-Paris-New York, 2005;
- Lee S.E., Hwang H.J., Kim J.H., Screening of medicinal plant extracts for antioxidant activity, Life Sciences, 73, 167-179, 2003;
- 79. LehningerA.L., Biochimie vol.1 (ediția a doua), Ed. Tehnică, 317, 1987;
- 80. Liangli, Yu, Value Adding Factors in Cold Pressed Edible Seed Oils and Flours, 2006;
- Li Thomas S.C, Beveridge H.J., Drover John C.G. Phytosterol content of sea buckthorn (Hippophae rhamnoides L.) seed oil: Extraction and identification Food Chemistry, Volume 101, Issue 4, 2007, p.1633-1639;

- 82. Liteanu C., Gocan S., Bold A., Separatologie analitică, Ed. Dacia, Cluj-Napoca, 1981;
- 83. Manualul asigurării calității pentru CNCAN-DGSRM, 2000;
- Marchioli, R., Early protection against sudden death by n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids after myocardial infarction: Timecourse analysis of the results of GISSI- prevenzione. *Circulation*, 105(23), 1897–1903, (2002);
- Marsh, J. W., Birchall, A. and Davis, K. Comparative doismetry in homes and mines: estimation of K-factors. In: Proceedings of seventh Symposium – The Natural Radiation Environement, Rhodes, May 2002 (Amsterdam:
- 86. Elsevier) pp. 290-298 (2005).;
- Martínez José Luis, Supercritical fluid extraction of nutraceuticals and bioactive compounds CRC Press,2008, ISBN 9780849370892;
- MănoiuGh., Marketingul, calitatea şi competitivitatea produselor agroalimentare, Editura Ceres, Bucureşti, 1980;
- Mărculescu A., Calitatea produselor agro-alimentare, Editura Universității "Lucian Blaga", Sibiu, 2005;
- Mărculescu A., Hanganu D., Pintea A., Dumitru M., Crăciun I., The study of some vegetable oils rich in essential fatty acids- omega 3, omega 6, Acta Universitatis Cibiniensis- Seria Științe Agricole, Vol. I, nr.1(6), ISSN 1582-8549, 2006;
- Medvedovici A., TacheF., Noțiuni fundamentale şi mărimi caracteristice în cromatografie, Editura Universității Bucuresti, 77, 1997;
- Min, D.B. Boff J.M, Crude fat analysis, Chap. 8 in Part II, in Food Analysis Third Edition, Springer Science (Suzanne Nielsen Ed.), USA Kluwer Academic New York, 2003, 113-131;
- Mincu I., Popescu A., Ionescu Târgoviște C., Elemente de biochimie și fiziologie a nutriției, Editura Medicală, București, 1985;
- 94. Mitrea N., Vitaminele in procesele metabolice, Ed.Didactică și Pedagogică, București, 2008;
- 95. McCoy M., Industry intrigued by CO2 as solvent. Chem Eng News 77(24):11-13, 1999;
- McHugh M.A., Krukonis V.J., Supercritical Fluid Extraction Principles and Practice, 2nd ed. Boston, MA: Butterworth-Heinemann, 1994;
- 97. Monchaux, G. Contribution of animal experimental data for the risk assessment of exposure to radon decay products. In: The Natural Radiation Environment VII (Oxford: Elsevier) pp. 66–76 (2005);
- Mondello L., Casilli A., Tranchida P.Q., Costa R., Chiofalo B., Dugo P., Dugo G., Evaluation of fast gas chromatography and gas chromatography-mass spectrometry in the analysis of lipids, Journal of Chromatography A, 1035 (2004) 237-247, <u>www.sciencedirect.com</u>;
- 99. Müller A., Steinhart H., Recent developments i n instrumental analysis for food quality, Food Chemistry 101 (2007) 1136-1144;
- 100.Muriel P., Peroxidation of lipids and liver injury. In: Baskin, S.I., Salem, H. (Eds.), Antioxidants, oxidants and free radicals. Taylor and Francis Publications, Washington, DC, 237–257, (1987).
- 101.Naşcu H.I., Jäntschi L., Hodişan T., Cimpoiu C., Some applications of Statistics in Analytical Chemistry. Rewiews in Analitycal Chemistry (Freud Publishing House), p. 409-456, XVIII (6), 1999;

102.Nașcu H.I., Jäntschi L., Chimie analitică și instrumentală, AcademicPres: AcademicDirect, 2006;

- 103. Neamțu G., Biochimie vegetală, Editura Ceres, București, 1981;
- 104. Neamțu G., Biochimie alimentară, București: Editura Ceres, 1997;
- 105.Novetschi I., Aditivi naturali în industria alimentară, Editura Universității "Lucian Blaga", Sibiu, 2001;
- 106.Nune O., Moyano E., Galceran M., LC-MS/MS Analysis of organic toxics in food, 2005, Trends in Analytical Chemistry, 24(7), 683-703, <u>www.sciencedirect.com</u>;
- 107.Omega-6 fatty acids: Make them a part of heart-healthy eating. In Healthy Aging Admin Nutrition News 02/27/2009;
- 108.Ordinul 286/2006 privind stabilirea limitelor maxime admise de reziduuri de pesticide în și pe fructe, legume, cereale și alte produse de origine vegetală, Monitorul Oficial, Partea I, nr.430/18.05.2006;
- 109. Ordinul Ministerului Sănătății nr. 975/1998, Limite maxime admise ale metalelor în alimente;
- 110. Oroș, N. A., Introducere în toxicologia veterinară, Ed. Risoprint Cluj Napoca, 2005;
- 111.OTTAWAY, P. B., The Technology of Vitamins in Food, Chapman and Hall, New York, 1993;
- 112.Ozogul Y., Ozogul F., Fatty acid profiles of commercially important fish species from the Mediterranean, Aegean and Black Seas, Food Chemistry 100 (2007) 1634-1638, <u>www.sciencedirect.com</u>;
- 113.Ozkoc, H. B., Bahan G., Ariman S., Distribution and bioaccumulation of organochlorine pesticides along the Black Sea coast, Environ. Geochemistry and Health, 2005, 20(1), 59-68;
- 114.Ozogul Y., Ozogul F., Alagoz S., Fatty acid profiles and fat contents of commercially important seawater and freshwater fish species of Turkey: A comparative study, Food Chemistry 103 (2007) 217-223, <u>www.sciencedirect.com</u>;
- 115.Paredes S., Girona J., Hurt-Camejo E., Vallve J.C., Olive S., Heras M., Benito P., Masana L., Antioxidant vitamins and lipid peroxidation în patients with rheumatoid arthritis: association with inflammatory markers., J. Rheumatol., 29, 2271-2277, 2002;
- 116.Popescu N., Meica S., Noțiuni și elemente practice de chimie analitică sanitar veterinară, Editura Diacon Coresi, București, 1993;
- 117.Popescu, N., Popa G., Stănescu V., Determinări fizico-chimice de laborator pentru produsele alimentare de origine animală, Ed. Ceres, București, 1986;
- 118.Porter N. A., Caldwell S. E., Mills K. A., Mechanisms of Free Radical Oxidation of Unsturated Lipids, *Lipids*, 30, 1995, 277-290;
- 119.Rădulescu E., Alimentație inteligentă, Casa de editură viață și sănătate, București, 2003;n Journal Cliniq Pathology 2006, 125(6) 914;
- 120.Rissato S.R., Galhiane M.S., De Souza A.G., Apon B.M., Development of a supercrytical fluid extraction method for simultaneous determination of organophosphorus, organohalogen and pyrethroids pesticides in fruit and vegetables and its comparison with a conventional method by GCECD and GCMS, Journal Brazil Chem Soc, 2005, 16(5) 1038, www.sciencedirect.com;
- 121.Rissato S.R., Galhiane M.S., de Almeida M.V., Apon B.M., Multiresidue determination of pesticides in honey samples by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry and application in environmental contamination, Food Chemistry 101 (2007) 1719-1726, <u>www.sciencedirect.com</u>;

- 122.Rees A-M., Austin M-P., Owen C., Parker G., Omega-3 deficiency associated with perinatal depression: Case control study, Psychiatry Research 166 (2009) 254-259, <u>www.sciencedirect.com</u>;
- 123.Roman L, Bojiță M, Săndulescu R; Validarea metodelor de analiză și control, Ed. Medicală, București, 1998;
- 124. Rosset R., Caude M., Jardy A., Chromatographies en phases liquide et supercritique, Masson, 1991;
- 125.Roșoiu N., Șerban M., Biochimie Metode și Tehnici de laborator, Colecția Vademecum Educațional, Editura Paralela 45, România, 2002;
- 126.Şerban M., Roşoiu N., Biological active substances from marine organisms, Ed. Romanian Academy, 1992;
- 127.RotaruG., MoraruC., HACCP. Analiza riscurilor. Punctele critice de control- Editura Academică, Galați, 1997;
- 128.Rotaru O., Mihaiu M., Igiena veterinară a produselor alimentare Patologie prin alimente, Editura Todesco, Cluj-Napoca,2002;
- 129.RouessacF., RouessacA., Analyse chimique. Méthodes et techniques instrumentals modernes, 5<sup>e</sup> edition, Dunod, Paris, 2000;
- 130.Saenger A.K., Laha T.J., Bremner D.E., Quantification of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D<sub>2</sub> and D<sub>3</sub> using HPLC-tandem mass spectrometry and examination of reference intervals for diagnosis vitamin D deficiency, American J Clin Pathol 2006, 125(6) 914, <u>www.sciencedirect.com</u>;
- 131. Savu, C., Georgescu N., Siguranța alimentelor, Ed. Semne, București, 2004;
- 132. Schell D.H., Elemente de biochimie și tehnici de laborator în chimie, Editura didactică și pedagogică, București, 1982;
- 133.Segal B., Costin Ghe., Segal R., Metode moderne privind îmbogățirea valorii nutritive a produselor alimentare, Editura Ceres, București, 1987;
- 134.Singh R., Sharma M., Joshi P., Rawat D.S., Clinical status of anti-cancer agents derived from marine sources. Anticancer Agents Med. Chem., 8, 603-17, 2008;
- 135.Simopoulos AP. Essential fatty acids in health and chronic disease. In Am J Clin Nutr. 1999;70(30 Suppl):560S 569S;
- 136.Socaciu C., Pintea A., Varga A., Ranga F., Diehl H.,Sea Buckthorn: new ways to use its bioactive components in food and pharmaceutical industry. Buletinul USAMV-A, 2002, 57, 271-278;
- 137.SR EN 12821/2002 Produse alimentare, Dozarea vitaminei D prin cromatografie de lichide de înaltă performanță;
- 138.SR EN 12822/2002 Produse alimentare, Determinarea vitaminei E prin cromatografie de lichide de înaltă performanță;
- 139.SR EN 12823-1/2003 Produse alimentare, Determinarea vitaminei A prin cromatografie de lichide de înaltă performanță;
- 140.STAS 1224-84 Soluri, Determinarea conținutului de cesiu radioactiv;
- 141. Stoll, Andrew L., Factorul omega3, Elena Francisc Publishing, 2005;
- 142.SR EN 14082/2003: Produse alimentare, Determinare plumb, cadmiu, zinc, cupru, fier și crom prin spectrometrie de absorbție atomică după calcinare;

- 143.SR EN 1528-1/2004: Produse alimentare grase, Determinarea pesticidelor și policlorbifenililor (PCB), Partea 1: Generalități;
- 144.SR EN 1528-2/2004: Produse alimentare grase, Determinarea pesticidelor şi policlorbifenililor (PCB), Partea 2: Extracţia grăsimii, pesticidelor şi PCB-urilor şi determinarea conţinutului de grăsime;
- 145.SR EN 1528 /2004: Produse alimentare grase, Determinarea pesticidelor şi policlorbifenililor (PCB), Partea 3: Metode de purificare;
- 146.SR EN 1528-4/2004: Produse alimentare grase, Determinarea pesticidelor și policlorbifenililor (PCB), Partea 4: Determinare, teste de confirmare, diverse;
- 147. Tadeo, J. L., Analysis of Pesticides in Food and Environmental Samples, CRCPress, Taylor & Frances Group Boca Raton, London, New York, 2008;
- 148. Tămaș M., Oniga I, Produse fitoterapeutice românești, Litografia UMF " Iuliu Hațieganu ", Cluj Napoca, 2000;
- 149. TănaseI.G., Analiză Instrumentală, partea a 2-a, București, 1991;
- 150.Temelli F., King J.W. Application of critical fluid technology to nutraceutical extraction and refining. Presented at the Short Course on Nutraceuticals and Functional Foods. February 20– 24, College Station, TX, 2000.;
- 151. Thurnhofer S., Vetter W., Application of ethyl esters and d<sub>3</sub>-methyl esters as internal standards for the gas chromatographic quantification of transesterified fatty acid methyl esters in food, J Agric Food Chem 2006 54(9) 3209;
- 152. Ulene A., Ghidul vitaminelor, mineralelor și al plantelor, Editura Teora, 2002;
- 153.United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). Assessment of risks from radon in homes. Publication EPA 402-R-03-003 (Washington, DC: Office of Air and Radiation) (2003);
- 154. Vesovic V., Wakeham W.A., Transport properties of supercritical fluids and fluid mixtures. In: TJ Bruno, JF Ely (eds.). Supercritical Fluid Technology: Reviews in Modern Theory and Applications. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, 1991, p. 245–289;
- 155. Venkatraman J.T., Chu W.C., Effects of dietary omega-3 and omega-6 lipids and vitamin E on serum cytokines, lipid mediators and anti-DNA antibodies in a mouse model for rheumatoid arthritis. J. Am. Coll. Nutr., 18, 602-613, 1999;
- 156.Wang X.-P., Yao T.-D., Cong Z-Y, Yan X.-L., Kang S.-C., Zhang Y., Distribution of persistent Organic Pollutants in Soil and Grasses Around Mt. Qomolangma, China, Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol., 52(2), 153-162, 2007;
- 157.World Health Organisation/Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Codex Alimentarius Commission Procedural Manual, 16<sup>th</sup> edition, Codex Alimentarius, 2006, ISSN 1020-8070;
- 158.Porter N. A., Caldwell S. E., Mills K. A., Mechanisms of Free Radical Oxidation of Unsturated Lipids, Lipids, 30, 1995, 277-290;
- 159. Yang Baoru, Heikki Kallio, Raija Tahvonen, Effects of dietary supplementation of sea buckthorn oils on fatty acids în patients with atopic dermatitis, 1999, Proceedings of the International Sea Buckthorn Congress, ICRTS, Beijing.